UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CSOTITHE OF NEW YNRK

TIMOTHY HOAR, THOMAS SIMMONS,
and TIMOTHY ARIAS, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

. No. 1:24-¢cv-06195-CM
-against-

LAUNCH PAD PAYMENT SERVICES CORPORATION
and HOTMART BV,

Defendants,

DECISION AND ORDER DIRECTING JURISDICTIONZ © DISCOVERY
McMahon, J.:

Plaintiffs Timothy Hoar, Thomas Simmons, anc . .mothy Arias, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated, commenced th  purported-class action against Defendants Launch
Pad Payments Services Corporation (*Launch Pad”) and Hotmart BV (“Hotmart™) (collectively as
“Defendant” or “Hotmart™) for violations of N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §§ 349 and 350, the Electronic
Funds Act (15 U.S.C. § 1693, et seq), unjust enrichment, conversion, fraud, the Washington
Consumer Protection Act (Wash. Rev. Code §§ 19.886.020, er seq.), California’s Unfair
Competition Law (“UCL”) (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, er seq.), California’s . ulse
Advertising Law (“FAL”) (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq), and the Consumers Legal
Remedies Act (“CLRA”) (Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1750, ef seq.) See Dkt. No. 40.

Defendants have moved to dismiss the Complaint in its entirety under Rule 12(b)(6) and
Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See Dkt. No. 43.

It is clear enough that most, if not all, of the Complaint would survive a motion to dismiss.

However, first we must decide whether the case as against the principal defendant - Hotmart  is
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appropriately brought in this district. Because discovery is needed to answer that question, I deny
the pending motion without prejudice to renewal on a fuller record, and I “ve the parties 45 days
to take the needed discovery and report the results to the Court.
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In order to deal with the venue/forum non conveniens aspects of this case — which are a
function of the forum selection clause contained in Hotmart’s Terms of Service — it is necessary
to discuss the key allegations of the First Amended Complaint, t :ther with documents
incorporated therein that the Court may properly consider. Nicosia v. Amazon.com, Inc., 34 F.3d
220, 230 (2d Cir. 2016). “Where a document is not incorporated by reference, the court may
nevertheless consider it where the complaint ‘relies heavily upon its terms and effect,” thereby
rendering the document ‘integral’ to the complaint.” Id. (quoting Mangiafico v. Blumenthal, 471
F.3d 391, 398 (2d Cir. 2006). For purposes of this motion, the Court accepts those facts (although

not Plaintiffs’ legal conclusions) as true, and construes them in the light most favorable to

Plaintiffs. Holmes v. Grubman, 568 F.3d 329, 335 (2d Cir. 2009).!

I. THE PARTIES
Plaintiff Timothy Hoar is a citizen and resident of Winlock, Washington.
Plaintiff Timothy Arias is a citizen and resident of Sacramento, California.
Plaintiff Thomas Simmons is a citizen and resident of Brooklyn, New York.
~ »fendant Launch Pad Payment Services is a Delaware Corporation with its principal place

of business and headquarters in New York City, New York.

" Almost every document dehors the pleading that is referenced by Defendants in their motion to dismiss is NOT
something that can be considered on such a motion — just as most of the arguments they make in support of their
motion are NOT arguments that are properly considered on a motion addressed to the pleadings. More on that later.
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Defendant Hotmart BV as a Dutch company with its headquarters in Amsterdam,
Netherlands. Dkt. No. 40 99 18, 19.

Hotmart is an online platform, on which users, called “Creators,” can list and sell digital
products and services, including e-books, online courses, video lessons, and more. Id. ]9 23, 25.
Consumers who might be interested in products made by the Creators receive advertisements from
Hotmart’s platform on various social media websites. Id. at 9 24.

Launch Pad Payment Services is a platform used by Hotmart to process transactions
between Creators and Consumers both of whom/which are located in the United States. The
Complaint does not explain what if any corporate relationship exists between Hotmart BV and
Launch Pad. Due to an unfortunate tendency of Plaintiffs to lump the two corporations together
under the rubric “Hotmart,” it is difficult to understand what allegations are or might be made
against Launch Pad independent of those against Hotmart. In this opinion, “Hotmart™ refers only

to the Dutch corporation; and references to Launch Pad or its activities will be identified as such.

11. Timothy Hoar’s Purchases

Plaintiff Timothy Hoar is a Consumer. He alleges that, on or around August 20, 2023, he
viewed an advertisement on Facebook for a product called “NeoCash Card.” Dkt. No. 40, § 27.
Hoar clicked the ad and was taken to a website operated by Hotmart, where he purchased the
NeoCash Card for $9.95. Id. 9 28. Hoar also purchased a product called “Life U} ade” for $19.95
which was advertised as extending the time Hoar could access the NeoCash Card. /d. § 36.

Hoar asserts that, in the months after making those two purchases, Hotmart either attempted
to charge or was successful in charging his debit card for a variety of products he claims never to

have purchased. Those unauthorized charges include $89.98 for various products called “Secret







product. Id. As was the case with Simmons, Arias never gained access to the product he purchased,
and he was allegedly assessed unauthorized charges for $54.02 on December 9, 2024, $27.02 on
December 23, 2024, and $15.01 on December 30, 2024. Id. 9 72. Hotmart also repeatedly assessed
unauthorized charges on Arias’s debit card for a product he never purchased called
“BodySync360;” those charges were assessed on December 6, 2024 (for $37.03), December 9
($15.05), December 27, 2024 ($27.07), December 30, 2024 ($30.03), January 2, 2025 ($27.05),
January 2, 2025 ($37.03), and January 2, 2025 ($15.05). Id. § 73.
V. The Hotmart Checkout Page and Its Terms of Service

According to the Amended Complaint, when a buyer purchases a product from a Creator
usit  Hotmart’s platform, the buyer encounters a checkout screen where he is prompted to enter
his name as well as his contact and billing information. /d. at 25. Below the billing information is
a large green button that says, “Buy Now.” Id. Beneath the “Buy Now” button are three blue
hyperlinks which, when pressed, allow the potential buyer to (1) contact the Creator about the
product, (2) learn more information about how to fill out the checkout information, and (3) contact
Hotmart about payment issues. Hotmart’s General Purchasing Terms (“GPT”) state that although
“[t}he purchase will appear on the card statement or invoice indicating Hotmart’s name . . . this
consists of a mere identification of Hotmart as a facilitator of payment on the invoice or card
statement, and does not make the Platform a seller or make it responsible for the Product, nor its
functionality, features, offer, advertising, quality, delivery, exchange or return.” Dkt. No. 321, §
1.9.

Below those three hyperlinks is a statement that reads: “By clicking ‘Buy Now’ I declare
that I (i) understand that Hotmart is processing this order on behalf of [Creator] and has no

responsibility for the content and/or control over it; (i) ee to Hotmart’s Terms of Use, Privacy




Policy and other company policies and (iii) am of legal age or authorized and accompanied by a
legal guardian.” Dkt. No. 40, at 25. The words “Terms of Use,” “Privacy Policy,” and “other
company policies” are blue hyperlinks to the respective agreements, while the rest of the statement
is printed in black. /d A prospective Hotmart buyer does not need to click on the hyperlinks to
proceed to complete the purchase; s/he can choose not to read the Terms of Use or Privacy Policy
and proceed by clicking the “Buy Now” button. /d. However, the links to the Terms of Use and
Privacy Policy are prominently and distinctively displayed.

The hyperlinks to Hotmart’s Privacy Policy are known in the industry as “browsewrap”
agreements — agreements “which generally post terms and conditions on a website via a hyperlink
at the bottom of the screen” and which “do not require the user to expressly assent.” Meyer v. Uber
Tech., 868 F.3d 66, 75 (2d Cir. 2017). These “browsewrap” agreements differ from “clickwrap”
agreements, which “require users to click on an ‘I agree’ box after being presented with a list of
terms and conditions[.]” /d.

Hotmart’s General Terms of Use (“TOU”) start with an Overview, which indicates that
“the company you hire to use the Platform and operate your transactions may vary depending on
the transaction, depending on the country or countries of residence of the Users(s) and the currency
in which the transaction is conducted.” TOU, Overview, § C. The Overview further indicates that
if a transaction “is carried out in the United States of America between Users who declare residence
in the United States of America, the company that collects the amounts from Buyers is the
American company Launch Pad Payment Services Corp., headquartered at 251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, DE 19808.” /d. In all other instances, with the exception of transactions that take
place in Brazil, the processing company is Hotmark BV in the Netherlands. /d.

The TOU includes a forum selection clause, which states as follows:


































Hotmart drafted its General Terms of Use, so those terms, like any contract terms, are
construed strictly against it, with any ambiguities resolved in favor of Plaintiffs. The General
Terms of Use containing the forum selection clause are entitled “Hormart’s General Terms of
Use™ - not any other corporation’s General Terms of Use (such as Launch Pad’s) and they
specifically apply to persons ““using Hotmart services,” which services include the processing of
transactions on the Hotmart platform by entities designated by Hotmart.* The second sentence of
the forum selection clause, concerning where disputes relating to specific transactions must be
resolved, refers to “a specific transaction on the Platform;” (emphasis added) the introduction to
the General Terms of Use states unequivocally that the term Platform encompasses “the
wwy " nart.co website and its subdomains indistinctly.” TOU, Overview. The Glossary
defining capitalized terms was not included in the record on the motion; however, the Court

clicked on the link to the Glossary in the General Terms of Use

(www.hotmart.co * “ jal/Glossary) and found that the definition was identical to the
reference cited in the text: “The website wy~ ' ‘ma~ -~~~ and its subdomains, as well as any

other websites, interfaces, or applications in which Hotmart makes its resources available.”
Furthermore, no language in the forum selection clause (which, again, was drafted by Hotmart)
limits who can be named as a defendant in suits concerning specific transactions; the clause does
not say, for example, that “As to any disputes between a User and the entity that processed a
specific transaction on the Platform, the exclusive venue to litigate shall be....” (Emphasis on

what the forum selection clause does not say).

4 Hotmart Services or Services: Collectively, the resources made available by Hotmart that allow Users to consume,
create, promote, or sell Products on the Platform. See Glossary of Terms Used By Hotmart, updated March 4, 2024,
at www hotmart.com/en/legal/glossary.
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